
1 
 

 

Book 9: The Elliotts of Devon and Oxford County 

James Elliott and Sarah Lawrence Family 
 

Preface:  Thomas was the eighth child of John and Mary Elliott.  To review their lives in Devon, the trip 
to Canada and their life here, refer to  

Book 1 
The Devonshire Elliott/Seldon/Prouse/Hamlyn/Wilson Families of 1843 Ingersoll and surrounding 

townships 

Revised August 2024 
IRC – Ingersoll Rural Cemetery 
Con – Concession 
 

Table of Contents:  

 
  James Elliott and Sarah Lawrence    Pg 2 - 9 
 
  James Elliott Family Tree     Pg 10 
 
  Mary Jane and George Raymond Family   Pg 11 - 22 
 

Sarah and Stephen Dundass Family    Pg 23 - 30 
 
Elisha Thomas Elliott      Pg 30 
 
James Rizeau Elliott and Agnes Stephenson Family  Pg 30 – 51 
 
Albert Elliott       Pg 52 
 
Acknowledgements      Pg 53 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 



2 
 

 

Child of John Elliott and Mary Elliott 
Eighth Child: James    B 28 Mar 1824   probably Bradworthy, Hartland, Devon  

     D 17 May 1905 West Oxford “Maplewood Farm” buried IRC 

     M 16 Dec 1852   Home District (York, Peel, Durham)  

Spouse: Sarah Catherine Lawrence B 28 Jun 1832 Gore, York, Toronto, Ont. 
D 19 Nov 1914 London, Ont.   Buried IRC 

 
Photo: James and Sarah Elliott 1902 
 
James was the third son and eighth known child of John and Mary Elliott (see 
Book 1) He was born in Devon and made the trip to Upper Canada in 1843 with 
his mother, father and some of his siblings.  Other siblings came later or were 
already in Upper Canada.  He probably was living in Durham County Upper 
Canada just east of Toronto with his mother and younger brother while his 
father and older brothers prepared the new Oxford County home.  James 
married Sarah Lawrence of Gore (Durham) in 1852 after James had moved to 
Oxford Co.  How James and Sarah might have 
met may be an interesting conjecture.  Did 
they know each other when James was living in 

Durham county 8 years previously?  She would have been about 11 
years old to his 20 years of age in 1844.  He was 28 and she was 20 
years old when married in Durham Co.  Did he court her long distance?  
Did he wait until she was of age to consent to marriage? 
Sarah was the youngest child of 
prominent Durham citizen 
Lieutenant Elisha Lawrence.  
According to census records, Elisha 
was born in New Brunswick in 
1800.  His spouse Sarah Devlin was 
born in Upper Canada.  He was a 
farmer at Lot 9 Con 2 of the Northern District of Gore.  The 1851 census notes they lived in a stone 
house, a rare feature in the farming country at that time. 
How Elisha earned his Lieutenant designation is not known. 
 

    
   In the 1851 census – Sarah was listed as being an 18-year-old servant. 
 
 

Lieutenant  

Elisha Lawrence 

Father of Sarah  
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The witnesses to James Elliott’s wedding may have a significant relationship to the Oxford Elliotts.  
Speculation could lead to the conclusion William and Hannah Elliott were Devon Elliott relatives already 
living in Vaughan, Scarboro or Durham.  It is known that the area was teaming with Devon Elliotts. 
Further investigation found that William and Hannah Elliott had a daughter named Maria who later 
married Thomas Seldon (Book 4).   James Elliott was Thomas Seldon’s uncle.  

Ancestry.ca speculation assumed that this William Elliott was Jame’s brother as both Williams shared 
the same birth year.  He too had a daughter named Maria.  This speculation can be put to rest as noted 
in the following. 
 
Marriage Index City of Toronto/York.   
 

 

 
It is probable James traveled to Oxford County around 1844.  If so, he settled with his parents in their log 
house in West Zorra township, clearing the land.  Unfortunately, I cannot locate James in the 1851 
population census.  The 1851 (it was taken in 1852) Agricultural census has him farming 25 acres at Con 
1 Lot 25 In West Oxford.   His 1852 wedding index has him listed as living in Gore York (Toronto).  It is 
possible that he did not move to Oxford until the early 1850s. Instead remaining close to his future wife. 
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Onland.ca confirms that on the 20th of July 1855, James Elliott (age 31) and wife purchased 200 acres of 
Con 2, Lot 24 West Oxford from a Morgan Baldwin who held a mortgage.   
 

 
As noted in his older sisters’ histories, James’ farm was a small walk north on Culloden Rd (Highway 10) 
from Eliza and her husband’s Charles Wilson farm.  James sold the west half (50 acres) of his lot to 
another sister Mary and Thomas Prouse in May of 1862.  They were landholders very nearby after their 
later arrival from Devon in 1846.  James’ name was still attached to the property until at least 1864 via 
mortgages.  Throughout his life he continued to purchase farm land in the region. 
The 1863 Oxford Gazetteer had James as one of the owners of property in the Centerville area of W 
Oxford.  He owned part of a lot on Broken Front (BF) concession (broken refers to the fact that the lot 
lines ended at the meandering Thames River and thus has no straight border on the north side).  This 
was Lot 17 BF Concession of W Oxford.   His brothers Thomas and William and brother-in-law William 
Seldon also owned part of the land that ran through Centerville.  In the 1880’s and 1890’s James also, at 
times, owned part of Con 2 Lot 18 in W Oxford and portions of farms in N Oxford just north of his sister 
Maria Seldon, and also near his brother Thomas north across the river from Centerville.  His 
questionable legal maneuvering to acquire his younger brother Samuel’s property in W Zorra is 
discussed later in this history. 

Ingersoll Chronicle article Mar 14, 1862 
 

James and family show up consistently throughout the 
different 10-year censuses in the Oxford area.  By 1901 they 
had moved from W Oxford to N Oxford according to the 
census. The McGill University map project showed that 
James owned 2 lots in North Oxford.  They were Con 2 Lot 5 
(150 acres)– adjacent to a property of brother John, and 
Con 3 Lot 14 (100 acres) on the eastern outskirts of Ingersoll 
beside his brother Thomas’ homestead.  In fact, in 1867, his 
two parcels of land in North Oxford and his original 
homestead at Con 2 Lot 24 West Oxford and another 200 
acres at Con 2 Lot 17 and 65 acres at Con 2 Lot 18 of W 

Oxford totaled over 600 acres of land.  He would be considered a large landowner of the day.  As 
mentioned, he and his wife may have resided at the Con 3 Lot 14 N Oxford residence during 1901, as 
others on the 1901 census list are recognized as families living on the Con 3 N Oxford road.  It appears 
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his son James Rizeau Elliott became the owner/co owner of some of the West Oxford properties just 
prior to James’s death.  Of interest is that during the 1860’s – 1880’s the brothers Samuel, Thomas and 
James were found all over the deed and mortgage papers for Lots 14 and 15 Con 2 of North Oxford.  I 
will leave it to someone else to explain the benefits of all this legal jockeying in property transactions.  
Farmers were as much land speculators as farmers in the era.  By the late 1920’s most of these 
properties were no longer in their hands as the brothers were now retired and living in Ingersoll or at 
Codys Corners in W Zorra. 
As mentioned previously, the Elliott brothers and nephew Richard Seldon appear to have bought several 
properties in the Centreville area.  Centerville was a thriving smaller community just east of Ingersoll on 
the plank road to Beachville and Woodstock.  Centerville at that time had several mills, blacksmiths and 
businesses.  At one time it was in the running to usurp Ingersoll as the main town of the area.  I believe 
that the Elliott’s purchased several lots with the intention of subdividing into them into house lots.  This 
strikes to me as a land speculation move akin to their father’s St John Street subdivision in Ingersoll 
(Book 1).  The Onland website supports the argument as the properties were constantly being redivided 
through many property transactions.  Below is the list of owners of the West Oxford property according 
to the W J Martin Agricultural Census of 1861 on Rootsweb.ca 
Elliott, James       B.F.  Lot 17 

Elliott, Thos.       B.F.  Lot 15 

Elliott, Wm.         B.F.  Lot 15 

  
James was also listed as a teacher on some censuses.  I have not located any schools that he may have 
taught at in the Ingersoll area but am intrigued by the how he came about the occupation.  
 

(Photo l-r):  Samuel’s sons Frederick and Arthur, and nephew 
(and son-in-law) Edwin Elliott wearing cheese factory aprons 
while working at Sam’s Elliott Family Cheese Factory Lot 7 
Con 1, West Zorra. Note: Arthur was 7 years younger than 
brother Frederick and son-in-law Edwin was 14 years older 
that Arthur.  I disagree with Ancestry.ca identification of the 
boys and feel it would be Arthur on the left, Fred seated and 
Edwin to the right. 
 
James’ brother Samuel’s family book (Book 10) has an edited 
excerpt regarding a conflict over Samuel’s cheese factory in 
1886.  Following is a condensed version to give you some 
context of the sibling conflict. 
This major family feud reads like fiction.  This description of 
events was relayed by Samuel Elliott family relative Catherine 
Auty via Ancestry and is referred to as the Elliott family feud. 
“Samuel Elliott (1826-1908), younger brother of James, was 
born into the farming family in Devon and spent his teenage 

years on Lot 7, Concession 1, W Zorra.  It was from his cheese-making ventures that he became better 
known - for better or for worse.  He seems to have come by his interest in cheese honestly.  His sister 
Eliza married Charles Wilson (Book 5) and was responsible for starting the Charles Wilson Cheese 
Factory in Dereham Township.  As well, Samuel married into the cheese-making Walker family of Lot 5, 
Concession 2 W Zorra township.  Mary Ann Walker's mother, Hannah (Lloyd) Walker, had mastered the 
art of cheese-making while growing up in a Pennsylvania Dutch home.   
Fluctuating prices in the 1880s made it tough for the likes of cheese-makers such as Samuel Elliott.  So, 
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on July 2, 1888, he signed an agreement with William Ewart to protect his properties from creditors. The 
properties included in the agreement were W Zorra Lot 7 Concession 1; Lot 6 Concession 5; and his 66 
acres on Lot 8 Concession 2, which he had bought in 1877.  As planned, William Ewart filed a quick claim 
against the properties, but then, on July 5, 1888, he betrayed Samuel by selling Lot 7 Concession 1, and 
Lot 8 Concession 2, to Samuel's brother James Elliott. 
On Dec. 10, 1888, James Elliott agreed to sell the West Zorra Cheese Factory to James Ireland.  That's 
when matters began to heat up.”   
 
Editor’s note: The sale only involved the property the factory was on and not the entire farm land. The 
deception by William Ewart and James’ actions to sell grated on Samuel to no end (pun intended). 
 
“On Feb. 19 1889, Edwin Elliott, Samuel's cheese-maker son-in-law, went to Smith's Hotel in Ingersoll to 
recruit toughs to evict James Elliott.  Ed promised them each a dollar and all the whiskey they could 
drink, but the whiskey would have to come after the work. 
The crew he hired included John Noe, James Noe, Percy Crotty, William Murray, Jonathan McGinnis and 
Duncan O'Hanley, some of which were from influential families and who were, to varying degrees, 
already under the influence.” 
“At about 11 p.m. they arrived at Samuel's house, where wife Mary Ann served them some cake and 
cider.  Then she told them to get over to the cheese factory and roust out her brother-in-law.  At that 
point the group was joined by Samuel's sons Fred and Arthur.  Inside the factory were James Elliott, his 
son John Rizeau Elliott and a hired man of son-in-law George Raymond.  When they chose to keep the 
doors closed and locked, the shouting and pounding on the door started, and soon rocks were flying 
through the windows.  William Murray and Percy Crotty had firearms, and it wasn't long before there 
was gunfire.  James and his group returned fire.  Soon, two members of Edwin's recruits were wounded.  
One lost a finger and the other shot in the groin.” (editor’s note: The Ingersoll Chronicle front page 
headline implied that one of the wounded would not likely survive). 
 
“On the following morning, James Elliott and his companions offered details of the confrontation to the 
authorities.  Edwin and others in his group (editors note: Fred and Arthur were not located for several 
days before turning themselves in) were charged, but several of the hired toughs skipped town. Edwin 
said he was unaware that any is his group had guns.  Eventually the charges were withdrawn, and the 
matter of property ownership was decided in court in favour of James Elliott. Over time, James Ireland 
eventually took possession of the cheese factory. He also operated the Galloway factory in Oxford 
Township.” 
 
The criminal charges were withdrawn but by Mar 1, 1889, everyone had been in front of the Magistrate. 
Charges of intent to shoot, trespassing and injury to property were made by all parties over the 
following two weeks.  The entire episode was front page news in local newspapers in the district.  Many 
of the town folk made arguments regarding demon alcohol and how young men from respectable 
families were taken to severe actions by the influence of said alcohol. 
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  Note: the cheese factory was in W Zorra. 
 

 
Court schedule April 1889 
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As noted, criminal charges were withdrawn on both sides and the matter of property ownership was 
decided in court in favour of James Elliott.  James never worked the Lot 7 Con 1 property W Zorra, 
instead he rented out the property for a number of years.  As noted through the years, he purchased a 
farm in N Oxford at Lot 15 Con 3.  Lot 14 and 15 in N Oxford (just to the northeast of IRC) was a hotbed 
of transactions between brothers James, Thomas and Samuel Elliott in the 1880s to 1900.  In 1862 he 
purchased 100 acres of Lot 6 Con 2 N Oxford of which the last section was sold by 1879.  In 1879 he 

acquired 65 acres of Lot 18 Con 2 W Oxford and in 
July of 1888, he also purchased another 200 acres 
of land at adjacent Lot 17 Con 2 W Oxford on the 

south eastern outskirts of Ingersoll between present day Curry Rd and Clarke Rd from the Harris Family.  
Fifty-six acres of Lot 17 property was sold to son John Rizeau Elliott in 1902 and James’s estate would 
sell the rest after his death in 1905 to George Jenvey.   
 

He sold the original James and Sarah 
Lawrence farmstead at Con 2 Lot 24 W 
Oxford in 1890.  By 1903 he had sold much 
his properties and he and Sarah moved from 

the N Oxford farm into Ingersoll to a house at the S W corner of Ann and Oxford streets. This house 
appeared to be purchased from niece Louisa Elliott whose husband William Card died in 1900.  James 
was there for only a few months as his health did not hold up and he moved to his son John Rizeau’s Lot 
18 Con 2 W Oxford farm in the fall of 1903.  He died in 1905 after a long period of illness as noted in his 
obituary.  Through the years he was also a tax collector as well as a school teacher.   
 

 
James and Sarah’s Ingersoll retirement home. 
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Map this page: Land owned at various 
times by James Elliott 
in W Zorra, N and West 
Oxford Townships 
1876 and 1896 Maps 
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The Ingersoll Chronicle Newspaper obituary of May 25 1905 sums up his life well. 
 
DEATH OF AN OLD RESIDENT--James Elliott, one of the oldest and most widely known residents of this section, 
passed away this morning at the residence of his son, James R. Elliott, West Oxford [township], at the advanced age 
of 81 years. He had been confined to his bed for the past 18 months and his death was not unexpected. Some 25 
years ago he was stricken with apoplexy from which he never fully recovered. Over 2 years ago he purchased the 
McCauhey property on Oxford St. Owing to failing health, he only resided there a short time, returning to make his 
home with his son. The late James Elliott was well and favourably known to the people of this section and by the 
older residents especially. His demise will be keenly regretted. He had resided in the vicinity of Ingersoll for 40 years 
or more. For a period of 23 years, he taught school and later engaged in farming which he followed very 
successfully. For a number of years, he was assessor and tax collector for West Oxford [township]. While he 
restrained from taking an active part in politics in municipal matters, he was public spirited to the extent of giving 
his hearty support to all matters though to benefit the community. Deceased was a native of Devonshire, England. 
He is survived by a widow and one son. The funeral will take place form the residence of his son, James R. Elliott, Lot 
18, Con 2, West Oxford [township], Monday afternoon and proceed to the Ingersoll Rural Cemetery. Service at the 
house at 2:30 p.m.   

 
Interesting to note that at the time of his death he was survived 
by his widow Sarah and only one of their five children, James 

Rizeau Elliott.  Widow Sarah lived 
off retirement income and 

boarded with the Humphrey family on Thames Street in 
Ingersoll as late as 1911 as per the 1911 Ingersoll Directory.  
Sarah died 3 years later of acute asthma on the 14th of 
November, 1914.  She was living in London at the time.  Since 
only her son James R survived her and he was farming in W 
Oxford, who was she living with in London, Ontario? 
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Children and Spouses of … 
James Elliott (son of John Elliott and Mary Elliott) and Sarah Lawrence 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sarah 
Lawrence 

1825 - 1914 

Steven Dundass 
1855 - 1938 

James Elliott 
1823 - 1905 

Robert James  
Dundass 

1887 - 1887 

Mary Jane 
Elliott 

1854 - 1898 

Unnamed 
Dundass 

1890 - 1890 

Patriarch John 
Elliott 

Matriarch 
Mary Elliott 

George F 
Walker 

1877 - 1962 

Elisha Thomas 
Elliott 

1857 - 1875 

James Rezeau 
Elliott 

1859 - 1942 
 

Albert E Elliott 
1866 - 1866 

J Moulton 
Morris 

1881- 1965 

Mary Byre 
Elliott 

1886 - 1946 

James Hay 
Elliott 

1886 - 1886 

Sarah Elliott 
1856 - 1890 

Sarah Berdina 
Raymond 

1881 - 1965 

Agnes 
Stephenson 
1864 - 1942 

Rev. Albert 
Riley 

1885 - 1955 

George 
Raymond 

1847 - 1920 

James Thomas 
Raymond 

1897 - 1937 

Byron S Elliott 
MD 

1884 - 1961 

Edith Evelyn 
Elliott 

1898 - 1988 

Mary E 
Dundass 

1888 - 1962 

Blanche Lord 
1903 - 1988 

 

Edward Franklin 
Kirkness 

1876 - 1943 

Herbert 
Thomas Volk 

1889 -- ? 

Sarah Agnes 
Elliott 

1890 - 1940 

Maura 
1904 - 1966 

Irma 
1906 - 1995 

Grace 
1920 - 2012 

Jean 
1918 - 2008 

John 
1914 - 2001 

Byron  
1944 - ? 

Mary ? 
Dejong 

 

 Byron Edward 
Elliott Kirkness 

1927 - 2009 

Nelson Elliott 
Riley 

1917 - 1988 

Ellen 
1924 - 2022 
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Grandchild of John and Mary Elliott 
Child of James Elliott and Sarah Lawrence 
Oldest child: Mary Jane   B 1854 Toronto Gore 

D 10 Apr 1898 Ingersoll 
                          M 11 Aug 1875 
Spouse: George Raymond  B 17 Oct 1847 W Oxford 

D 12 Sept 1920 Ingersoll 
 

Mary Jane was born a year before father 
James had purchased his W Oxford farm.  
Her marriage schedule notes she was born 
in Toronto Gore.  Her birth in Gore gives 
thought that James did not move to 
Oxford until mid 1850s.  Another option 
may be that her mother Sarah wanted to 
deliver her firstborn surrounded by her 
own mother and Gore based family.   
Mary Jane would have also been 
surrounded by Prouse and Wilson cousins 
as she grew up.  At age 21, she married 
George Raymond, a neighbour son of 
Walter Raymond.  They settled and 
worked a portion of the Lot 14 Con 3 N 

Oxford land that her father James and uncle 
Thomas Elliott had owned.  The 1901 
census showed the Raymond’s living 
adjacent to James Elliott.  The Raymond’s 
eventually purchased the farm from Mary 
Jane’s father.  The Raymond’s hosted a 
demonstration on the use of hydro on 
farms around 1912.  They became the first 
farm in N Oxford with hydro service.  Mary 
Jane developed an abscess and was sick for 
some time before dying at age 44 in 1898.  
She left behind three children age 21, 19 
and 17 on the farm.  Raymond continued to 

work the family farm with son James.  In 1889 he was president of the N Oxford Cheese and Butter 
Manufacturing Co. as well as the company salesman.  He was on the board of the company for many 
years.  

Great Grandchild of John and Mary Elliott 

Grandchild of James Elliott and Sarah Lawrence 
Child of Mary Jane Elliott and George Raymond 
First Child: Albert George   B 15 Sept 1877 N Oxford  

D 02 Mar 1940 Ingersoll 
Spouse: Olive May Edwards   B 10 Mar 1879 Ingersoll 

D 12 Oct 1952 Ingersoll  
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Not content to stay on the Raymond farm, Albert moved to Ingersoll to work at the Morrow Screw 
and Nut Co. and by the 1931 census they had situated to Hamilton where he worked for International 
Harvester.  He returned to the N Oxford farm in his late 50s to run it after his younger brother James 
died while living at the farm.  No children were found in any census data. 
 
ALBERT GEO. RAYMOND PASSES VERY SUDDENLY 
The death occurred very suddenly on Saturday, March 2nd, shortly after noon, of Albert George Raymond, North 
Oxford Township. Deceased who was in his 61st year, was a son of the late Mr. and Mrs. Geo. Raymond and was 
born in North Oxford Township, on the farm, Lot 14, Concession 3, where he passed away. Although he had not 
been in the best of health for about three years, he was around as usual on Saturday morning and appeared in 
his usual health until stricken with a heart seizure from which he never rallied. After leaving the farm he had 
been employed in Ingersoll and was at the plant of the Morrow Screw & Nut Company Limited until about 
twenty years ago when he went to Hamilton to work at the plant of the International Harvester Company, 
where he was employed until two years ago when upon the death of his brother, James, he returned to the farm 
in North Oxford Township. Of a quiet and unassuming nature, he had made for himself a large circle of friends, 
who deeply regret his passing. Left to mourn the passing of a beloved husband is his widow. Also surviving is one 
sister, (Sadie), Mrs. George Walker of Brownsville, Texas, to whom the sympathy of many friends is extended in 
their sad bereavement. 

 

Great Grandchildren of John and Mary Elliott 
Grandchild of James Elliott and Sarah Lawrence 
Child of Mary Jane Elliott and George Raymond 
Second Child: James Thomas Henry   B 20 Dec 1879 N Oxford  

D 22 Dec 1937 N Oxford. IRC 
James took over his father’s Lot 14 Con 3 N Oxford farm.  He was a bachelor.  He died of acute intestinal 
obstruction at age 58 
 

 

JAMES RAYMOND 
Death early Wednesday morning, December 22nd, removed a widely known and life-long resident of 
North Oxford Township, in the person of James Raymond. Deceased had been in failing health for some 
four or five years, but had been able to be up and around until about three months ago, since which 
time he had been confined to his bed. The late Mr. Raymond was about 55 years of age and had spent 
his entire life on the farm where he was born, just outside Ingersoll’s north easterly limits. He was 
unmarried and was a son of the late Mr. and Mrs. George Raymond. He is survived by one brother, 
Albert Raymond, Hamilton; one sister, Mrs. George Walker, Brownsville, Texas. The funeral was held 
from the Fred S. Newman Funeral Home on Sunday afternoon to the Ingersoll Rural Cemetery 

 

Great Grandchildren of John and Mary Elliott 
Grandchild of James Elliott and Sarah Lawrence 
Child of Mary Jane Elliott and George Raymond 
Third and last child: Sarah (Sadie) Berdina    B 12 May 1881 N Oxford 

D 20 Apr 1965 Brownsville, Texas emigrated 1909 
M 18 Jun 1902 Ingersoll 

Spouse: George Franklin Walker   B 09 May 1877 Avon, Ont. 
D 18 Jan 1962 Brownsville, Texas 
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George Walker                               Sadie Raymond               George, Sadie, daughters Irma and Maura 
 
Sarah (Sadie) was born in 1881 in N Oxford Township.  She lived on her father’s farm at Con 2 Lot 14 NE 
of Ingersoll on the north side of the Thames River.  Her father was a widower when she married George 
Walker in 1902.  She was 20 years old.  George F Walker was born on the 25th of May, 1877 near 
Dorchester, Ont. to Johnston Walker and Hannah Laur.  He was a middle child in a large clutch of 
siblings.  His father died in 1885 and is buried in Avon, Ont.  Raymond was seven years old at the time.  
His mother appears to have remarried and the children from the Walker marriage were dispersed or 
married by the 1891 census.  George was living with his grandparents in Ingersoll during the 1891/1901 
censuses and was an assistant to his brother who worked with undertaker James McIntrye of McIntyre 
and Co., in Ingersoll.   
 
                                                                                                        George Walker’s home in Ingersoll 

 
 

   
 
Once married he moved his young family to Carroll St. in Ingersoll.  Where he went to work in a grocery 
and retail store.  His taste for the retail business served him well in later life.   
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The George F Walker and Sadie Raymond marriage of 18th of June, 1902 at the George Raymond house 
in N. Oxford.  The Walker family are on the left and the Raymond/Elliott clan are on the right of the 
bride and groom. 
 

From the wedding photo: very possibly this is James Elliott and wife 
Sarah Lawrence in the left photo and George Raymond with the 
mustache in the right photo. 
 
With several of his older siblings living in the US, George immigrated 
in 1909 with his wife and 2 small daughters to Brownsville, Texas at 
the urging of brother Alonzo who lived there.  Brownsville is located 
at the very southern point of Texas and is across the Rio Grande 
from Mexico.  The family all became naturalized American citizens.  
At this point George’s life takes an adventurous turn.  It appears, 

according to his border work in 
1909 and his WWI war registration 
papers that his brother Alonzo had 
moved there with his wife in 1908.  
The brothers formed the Walker 
Bros. farming industry and grocery 
businesses.  Large tracts of land 
around Brownsville produced 
market produce for the company 
supermarkets.  George’s ambition 
blossomed in Brownsville.   
To the right: 1909 Border crossing 
with his wife, two children and 
$350.00 
US border papers. 
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George recognized the area’s potential to grow fruit and vegetables earlier in the year than could be 
done in Ontario.  With that in mind, he went to work investigating how to ship produce to the northern 
markets and promoting the area’s produce for consumption in Ontario.  He promoted the use of 
packaging products on ice in train cars and transporting the produce nonstop to northern markets.  His 
advocacy led to an increase in Texas produce shipped to Canadian markets. 
While in Brownsville, George and Sarah Walker witnessed the outbreak of the Mexican Revolutionary 
War 1910 - 1920.  The war first pitted Mexican Government forces against numerous regional 
revolutionary groups upset with the distribution of wealth and with large landowners committing 
larceny against small peasant farms and subjugating these same simple peasants.  With the forced 
downfall of the Mexican government, the regional rebels turned on each other in attempts both 
politically and with armed force to establish a new Mexican government.  This jockeying led to the 
formation of the modern-day Mexican Constitution.  The link below is an abridged look at the affair. 
 
https://www.britannica.com/event/Mexican-Revolution 
 
The revolution was felt in Brownsville.  Rebel raids were conducted across the border into the US.  
American citizens died.  US President Wilson sent the US army and Texas Rangers troops into 
Brownsville.  Being an adroit businessman, George Walker saw an opportunity. 
The United States government refused to sell weapons to any Mexican party because of the concern the 
conflict could continue to spill across the border.  An embargo was put in place to prevent American 
citizens from selling munitions across the border.  George owned several grocery/hardware stores that 
also sold guns and ammunition.  So, with that in mind, a great grandson of George’s takes up the story. 
“He also spent a lot of time down in Mexico, where he made a deal with Presidente Carranza to sell him 
some guns. George loaded up boxcars full of guns and sent them down to Mexico City. We have pictures 
of the train with an armed Mexican Guard sitting on top of each car.  
So, Pancho Villa had turned against Carranza and was angered that George was supplying guns to 
Carranza. One day George heard that Pancho Villa was coming for him, so he went over to Matamoros 
across the Rio Grande, to meet Villa in the bar over there, and they came away friends. So essentially, he 
was providing guns to both sides of the conflict.  George wasn’t a very good farmer but he was a great 
businessman.” 
Thanks to great grandson Daniel Smith 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1913 Battle of Matamoros                                                      Pancho Villa 
 

https://www.britannica.com/event/Mexican-Revolution
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The 1913 Battle of Matamoros was one of the Revolutionary battles noted at the time.  Today 
Matamoros is a city of 500,000 and is known as an auto manufacturing center.  In 1913, it was a town of 
50,000 and directly across the border from Brownsville.  “Garrisoned by fewer than 50 regular soldiers, 
Matamoros put up only brief resistance to Gen. Lucio Blanco‘s June 3-4 attack, many of its government 
officials and wealthy denizens bolting over the Rio Grande to adjacent Brownsville, Texas.  But some of 
the young guns in town had an overdeveloped sense of heroic machismo and sold their lives dearly to 
postpone the inevitable.  Groups of young Matamoro’s men, some of them fourteen and fifteen years 
old, volunteered for service under irregular huertista officers. They fought stubbornly until early in the 
morning of June 4. A number of them were captured and executed by Blanco’s men.” 
US Library of Congress 

 

 
 
                                                                                                 Unidentified Geo. Walker in group of bystanders 
                                                                                                       (Photo supplied by great grandson Daniel Smith) 

 
After George’s war exploits, he returned to making money through his businesses. 

 
August 25th 1929 Brownsville Herald 

http://runyon.lib.utexas.edu/conflict.html
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Lucio_Blanco
http://maps.google.com/maps?f=d&hl=en&geocode=&saddr=&daddr=&mra=mr&ie=UTF8&ll=25.887489,-97.502804&spn=0.127873,0.233459&z=12
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As noted in the August 25th, 1929 Brownsville Herald article seen above, the Walker’s escaped the south 
Texas summer heat by visiting the family summer retreat in Port Stanley, Ont. on the north shore of 
Lake Erie.  In the winter, the family also spent time in Mexico on family trips.  The Walker’s activities 
were often noted in the Ingersoll Chronicle in the local interest column. 
 

 
 
1947 Brownsville Herald 
 

 
1941 Brownsville Herald 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                               1917 Brownsville Herald 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                                                                        1942 Brownsville Herald 
                                                                        1932 Brownsville Herald 
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He established a chain of supermarkets in the Brownsville area and he became well known in the town’s 
affairs. 
1940 Brownsville Herald 

 
1940 Herald 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
            1949 Herald 
 
By 1949, the Walker’s were no longer operating the grocery stores as it appears George retired in 
Brownsville. 
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      Hunting trips:  top - George far right in front of his  
                                 converted hearse. 
        bottom – George second from right 
                                                                                        

Family Home 505 E Washington St. Brownsville 
                                                                                    Top photo – newly built 
      Middle photo – Sadie at the house 
      Bottom photo - house 2022 
 
 
 

              The couple’s birthday dates were three days apart.  
Both George and Sadie died of heart failure, 
George was 84 when he died in 1962.  Sadie 
was 83 when she died in 1965.  Both are 
buried in Bueno Vista Burial Park, Brownsville, 
Texas. 
They had two daughters born in Ontario that 
emigrated to Brownsville.  Both lived in the 
area during their lifetimes. 
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Great Grandchildren of James Elliott and Sarah Lawrence 
Grandchild of Mary Jane Elliott and George Raymond 
Child: Sarah Raymond and George Walker   
First Child: Irma Leola “Irene”  B 04 Mar 1906 Ingersoll  

D 15 July 1995 Brownsville, Texas 
M 30 May 1961 Carlsbad, Texas 

Spouse: Almon “Red’ Wilson  B 01 June 1911 Scurry, Texas 
     D 15 Jun 1969 St Angelo, Texas 
Both daughters went to school in the Brownsville area and attended university in Canada.  Both 
remained living in the south Texas area.  Irma was married late in life to Almon “Red” Wilson and moved 
to Texas.  Red Wilson was a retired bus driver when he married Irma.  He died 8 years after the 
marriage. 
                                                                                      04 May 1930 Brownsville Herald. 

  1910 Ingersoll Chronicle 
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Great Grandchildren of James Elliott and Sarah Lawrence 
Grandchild of Mary Jane Elliott and George Raymond 
Child: Sarah Raymond and George Walker   
Second and last child: Maura   B 08 Apr 1904 Ingersoll  
       D 11 Jan 1996 Brownsville, Tex. 
Spouse: Henry Marion Smith    B 31 May 1902 Texas  
      D 21 Jul 1996 Brownsville 
Maura (Walker) Smith was very prominent in Brownsville woman’s and children’s rights and civic affairs 
in the city of Brownsville.  The Maura Smith Center was named after her.  The center is still operating as 
of 2023 and is now a private school and compassion center.  She was an excellent painter and featured 
pastoral scenes of the Rio Grande.  Several of her paintings still hang in relative’s and friends’ homes.  
She died in 1966 at age 61.  Husband Henry was a local high school sports star and he was a locomotive 
engineer for the Missouri Pacific Railroad.   

 
 
Brownsville Herald 1940s 
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Brownsville Herald 1967  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Maura and Henry had a son and three daughters of which two lived 
in California.  One of their grandson’s, George Alleyn, was a rookie 
California Highway Patrol Officer when he placed his name in history. 
 
 

 

 
 
Four rookie CHP officers attempted to end a robbery. 
All four were killed in a parking lot shoot out in what  
is called the Newhouse incident.  It is the largest loss  
of police officer’s lives at one time in California history. 
There is an excellent You Tube video about the tragedy. 
 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=we5Qi0DYv8E 
 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=we5Qi0DYv8E
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Grandchildren of John and Mary Elliott 
Child of James Elliott and Sarah Lawrence 
Second Child: Sarah Elizabeth B 1856 Toronto, Gore   

D 12 Apr 1890 Ingersoll 
                       M 31 Mar 1885  
Spouse: Stephen Dundass  B 21 Aug 1855 N Oxford 

D 11 Jan 1938 N Dorchester 
 
Sarah was born in York, Toronto in 1856 according to IRC death registry records.  This is interesting in 
that her father James had purchased his farm in W Oxford in 1855.  Again, maybe Sarah’s mother went 
back to the family to have her child there.  Sarah Elizabeth married Stephen Dundass.  Although he was 
living in N Dorchester township when they married, he was born in N Oxford to Harriett Mathews and 
Robert Dundass.  Both he and Sarah were 29 years old when they married.  They settled on a farm in N 
Oxford that was very close to other Dundass family farms.  In quick concession, they had a son Robert in 
1886 and daughter Mary in 1888.  Sarah Elliott Dundass died in 1890 while giving birth to a third child 
and like her mother, the birth took place in Gore (Toronto).  There is no record of the child surviving.  
The 1891 census shows Stephen living at his farm with his only surviving child Mary age two.  Stephen 
would go on to remarry and raise Mary with her four younger step-sisters.  By 1911 he had moved to N 
Dorchester township and was farming on Con 3.  He is buried in Banner Cemetery with his second wife.  
Sarah is buried with her parents in IRC. 

Find a Grave Notation: Elisha Thomas, died May 6, 1875, aged 18 years / Albert Edward, died 

November 5, 1866, aged 10 weeks, children of James & Sarah C. Elliott / Sarah E., daughter of 

James & Sarah C. Elliott, wife of Stephen J. Dundass, died April 12, 1890, aged 34 years 

 
Sarah Elliott Dundass death record.  Childbirth was cause of death. 

 
Great Grandchildren of John and Mary Elliott 
Grandchild of James Elliott and Sarah Lawrence 
Child of Sarah Elizabeth Elliott and Stephen Dundass 
First Child: Robert J    B 20 Aug 1886 N Oxford  

D 27 Nov 1886 N Oxford 
 
 
 
His cause of death was listed as “sudden death” 
He is buried in the Banner cemetery.  
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Great Grandchildren of John and Mary Elliott 
Grandchild of James Elliott and Sarah Lawrence 
Child of Sarah Elizabeth Elliott and Stephen Dundass 
Second and last Child: Mary (May) Elizabeth   B 02 Oct 1888 N Oxford 

D 14 Dec 1962 Dorchester, Ont. 
                                                         M 08 Jan 1914 London 
Spouse John Moulton Morris     B 10 Aug 1881  

D 03 Nov 1965 Harrietsville 
 

May was raised by her father until he 
remarried when she was 5 years old.  She 
grew up in N Dorchester township and 
worked in the local post office in 
Dorchester before she was married.  
James Moulton Morris was from the 
Morris family that lived in the Harrietsville 
and Verschoyle area between Alymer and 
Ingersoll.  After her marriage, she lived on 
her husband’s farm at Lot 12 Con 4 N 
Dorchester township just to the north of 
Harrietsville on Elgin Rd Highway 73. 
 

The Morris family had been in Ontario since the 1790s.  Samuel Morris and wife 
Elizabeth Rathwell farmed in Leeds County after their 1817 wedding.  They had 10 children.  One son, 
William, married Jane Moulton.  Seven of the ten children migrated from Leeds County via boat from 
Brockville, arriving in Hamilton and then heading towards the fertile lands of Middlesex County and N 
Dorchester township.  In 1850, William purchased 200 acres at Lot 4 Con 4 SRT Dorchester about 
halfway between Avon and Putnam.  The family continued to acquire other parcels of land in the 
neighbourhood before Nassau’s death in 
1926.  At Nassau death (1849 – 1926), 
son William was bequeathed a portion of 
his father’s 200 acres as were his 
brothers.  Nassau was given N1/4 Lot 4 
Con 4 SRT N Dorchester.  Nassau’s will 
specified that son, John Moulton be 
granted N1/2 Lots 11 and 12 Con 4 SRT N 
Dorchester on condition he housed his 
sister Ellen.   

Moulton and Mary Elliott Dundass were progressive farmers and 
embraced new technology.  They installed a line shaft and belt 
drives to assist with the farm labour.  This gave Moulton some 
free time.  In 1929, he tested for and received a ham radio 
operator’s licence. 
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Mary Dundass Morris raised geese on the farm and 
sold them to Victoria Hospital in London during 
Christmas time.  Because they lived in the large 
farm home, they hosted most Christmas gatherings.  
The family attended Harrietsville United Church 
and Moulton was also a member of the Hope Lodge 
– proudly attaining his 50-year jewel in 1955. 
They had 4 children – all attending #16 Harrietsville 
school. 
 
Photo: Rear - daughter Grace (Johnson), son 
Herman, daughter Ellen (Garner) and daughter Jean 
(Smith). 
Front: mother Mary Dundass Morris, father 
Mouton Morris 
 
 
Wedding Photo 
1914 
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MRS. MOULTON MORRIS DIES IN 75TH YEAR 
Dorchester--The death occurred at the Faith Haven Nursing Home, Ingersoll, on December 14th, of Mary 
Elizabeth [Dundas] Morris, in her 75th year. Funeral services were conducted on Monday from the R. A. Logan & 
Son Funeral Home, with Rev. George Simpson of Harrietsville United Church in charge. Interment was made in 
Dorchester Cemetery and the pallbearers were: Messrs. Ralph Venning, Roy Venning, Gordon Barons, Horace 
Parkes, Carl Jackson and Charles Secord. Left to mourn her loss is her husband, Moulton Morris, RR1 Mossley; 
one son, Herman Morris, RR1 Belmont; three daughters, Jean [Mrs. Richard Smith] RR4 Aylmer; Grace [Mrs. 
John Johnson] RR1 Mossley; and Ellen [Mrs. William Garner] RR4 Rockwood 
 
After a brief illness, John Moulton Morris of RR1 Mossley, died on November 3, in Victoria Hospital, London, at 
the age of 84. Mr. Morris a retired farmer was born in resided all his life on the Morris homestead. He was a 
member of Harrietsville United Church and IOOF Hope Lodge, #69, receiving his 50-year level jewel 8 years ago. 
He was a son of the late Nassau Morris and Mary Venning Morris. Predeceased 3 years ago by his wife the 
former Mary E. Dundas, he is survived by one son, Herman, RR1 Belmont; three daughters, Mrs. J. E. [Grace] 
Johnson, RR1 Mossley; Mrs. B. J. [Ellen] Garner, RR4 Rockwood; 17 grandchildren and 3 great-grandchildren; 
two brothers, James A., Dorchester; Herbert, Aylmer; one sister, Mrs. Fred [Violet] Brown, RR1 Kingsville. An 
IOOF service was conducted on Friday evening under the auspices of Hope Lodge, Harrietsville. 

 
First Child of Mary Dundass and Moulton Morris 
John Herman     B 23 Oct 1914 N Dorchester 

D 21 Mar 2001 Mossley, Ont. 
Spouse: Edna “Merle” MacIntyre  B 07 Sep 1921 Malahide, Elgin  

D 11 Jun 2007 London 
Descendant Ann O’Reilly of Dorchester filled in some of the family details.  John Herman Morris stayed 
on the family farm.  After his father’s death he took over the operation.  The farm was a general farm 
but he also imported beef cattle from out west.  He would raise and feed for sale.  He was a handy man 
on the farm and weas able to make his own parts.  He designed and built a custom front end loader for 
one tractor.  He loved to play euchre.  Family members recall him being an obstinate person with little 
patience for children.  Edna was the daughter of Frank and Edna (Jolliffe) MacIntyre. 
Money was often tight so both Edna and Herman supplemented the family income by driving school 
buses in N Dorchester for over 20 years.  She loved music and was an avid church goer at the Avon 
Church.  Herman was not a religious man.  Merle loved baseball and would often attend local games in 
support of the team of her choice. 

Meryl spent the last 2 years of her life in a nursing home.  They 
had five children: 
Ruth, Kay Pauline, Joan and Ray.  Ray continued with the farm 
operation after Herman’s death. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Avon Church     
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Obituary of Edna Morris, it is with profound sadness that the family 
announces the passing with grace and dignity, of Edna "Merle" Morris 
at London Health Science Centre-Westminster on June 11, 2007, in her 
86th year. Predeceased by her husband Herman Morris (2001). 
Cherished mother of Ruth McNeil and husband Jim of Aylmer, Kay 
Casler of London, Pauline Parkes of London, Joanne Terry of Barrie and 
Ray Morris and his friend Tina Cloes of Harrietsville. Born in Malahide 
Township Ontario on September 07, 1921 daughter of the late Frank 
and Edna (Jolliffe) MacIntyre. Merle had lived all her life in the Avon 
area and was a member of Avon-Crampton United Church and the 

U.C.W.  
 

Second Child of Mary Dundass and Moulton Morris:  
Jean Elizabeth   B 1918 N Dorchester, Mossley 
     D 2008 St. Thomas 
     M 1939 Harrietsville 
Spouse: Richard Smith  B 04 Jun 1915 Dorchester, Ont. 
     D 26 Apr 2003 St Thomas 
Jean was the editor of the Beacon, a Dorchester Continuation school publication 
and was also school’s literary society.  She attended Sir Adam Beck and London 
Normal School and after graduation she taught at #16 Harrietsville Public School 
from 1937 – 1939.  They were the first couple married in the new Harrietsville 
United Church in 1939.  Both were involved with the Harrietsville Junior Farmers 

(Richard was president when they married). Jean and Richard farmed in N Dorchester before purchasing 
a farm and moving to Malahide Township.  Her passion was making novelty hats for children or special 
events.  Richard and Jean raised horses.  He became well known as an expert in antique glass and had a 
large collection.  Two daughters were born to the couple: Anne and Marlene. 
 
Third Child of Mary Dundass and Moulton Morris:  
Grace Irene       B 1920 N Dorchester 

D 2012 Delaware care facility 
M 1943 Harrietsville 

Spouse: Don Johnson B 1917 N Dorchester 
D 1994 Avon 

 
Grace told stories of walking to Harrietsville school with her sister and carrying her lunch pail.  That 
education led to Sir Adam Beck Secondary in London and to Victoria Hospital’s School of Nursing in 1941 
where she was top of class.  She eventually worked at the hospital on the supervisory staff.  She worked 
at a tobacco factory in her younger days and as a hobby made elaborate greeting cards in her later 
years.   
Grace also won the woman’s competition at a ploughing match while wearing an apron.  The newspaper 
photo depicting the event was a family favourite. 
Don Johnson, son of Ezra and Mrytle Johnson, worked as a health inspector/carpenter and bookkeeper 
but in his spare time he loved his motorcycle.  He was member of the honour guard with his local 
motorcycle club.  The couple lived on the Johnson homestead on Con 5 SRT N Dorchester until retiring 
to Avon.  They had two sons: Robert and Ralph. 
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Fourth Child of Mary Dundass and Moulton Morris:  
Verna Ellen   B 1924 N Dorchester 
    D 06 June 2022 Guelph 
    M 12 Jun 1948 
Spouse: William (Bill) Garner B unknown 
    D 29 Sept 2018 Guelph 
 
Raised at the Lot 12 Con 4 farm, she was another young Morris girl that went into nursing, Verna 
boarded in Dorchester with an aunt while attending Dorchester Continuation School.  This was followed 
by Sir Adam Beck Collegiate and Victoria Hospital School of Nursing, graduating in 1945.  Like her sister 
Grace, she was on the supervisory nursing staff.  She married William Garner of Harrietsville in 1948.  
Two children were born in N Dorchester before the family moved to Acton and then to Rockwood in 
Wellington County where they had six more children. 
The farmhouse was very small and they had eight children.  Family stories relate the chaos around the 
kitchen table.  Nursing was Ellen’s career just like her older sister.  Ellen and William enjoyed bowling as 
per the 1972 Acton Free Press.  William Garner worked as a mechanic as well as tending the farm.   
 

 
1945 Voters List  
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                                          Spouse: William Garner D 2018 

 
Grandchildren of John and Mary Elliott 
Child of James Elliott and Sarah Lawrence 
Third Child: Elisha Thomas   B 1857 W Oxford 

D 06 May 1875 W Oxford (age 18) 
ELLIOTT--In West Oxford [township], suddenly, on the 6th inst., 
Elisha Thomas, eldest son of Mr. James Elliott, aged 18 years  
Ingersoll Chronicle  

 
“Elisha Thomas, died May 6, 1875, aged 18 years / Albert Edward, 
died November 5, 1866, aged 10 weeks, children of James & Sarah 
C. Elliott /” 
 
He died within a few days of his cousin Lillian Elliott – both died of a 
Scarlet Fever outbreak in Oxford Co at that time. 

 
 
Grandchildren of John and Mary Elliott 
Child of James Elliott and Sarah Lawrence 
Fourth and last Child: James Rezeau B 23 Sept 1859 W Oxford   

D 02 Nov 1942 Vancouver 
M 03 Nov 1883 Ingersoll 

Spouse: Agnes “Aggie” Stephenson  B 11 Apr 1864 W Oxford 
D 01 May 1942 Vancouver 
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Rezeau was James’ great grandmother’s maiden name on Sarah Lawrence’s side.  He often went by J R 
Elliott, which was often confused with John Rogers (J R) Elliott who was a cousin (Book 7).  Wife Agnes 
was the daughter of James and Mary Stephenson.  Her parents were of Scottish decent having 
emigrated in the 1840s and lived a couple of kilometres south of Ingersoll on Harris Road at Lot 19 Con 3 
just NW of Salford on the Dereham W Oxford township border.  James was born in W Oxford at Lot 23 
Con 2, about three kilometers from Agnes’ family home.  In 1902, JR purchased portions of Con 2 Lot 
17/18 W Oxford from his father.  He later sold the properties in 1903 through to 1906 and the couple 
moved into Ingersoll in 1905.  He also removed any mortgages on the W Zorra farm that his father and 
uncle fought over during the cheese factory escapade.  The couple owned a large home in the south east 
corner of Thames St S and Holcroft St. 

 
1905 Chronicle ad                                                           James Rizeau Lot 18 Con 2 W Oxford house 1900 
 

The couple owned a large home in the south east 
corner of Thames St S and Holcroft St. 
Ingersoll house – named “Cruden” by family 

Chronicle Oct 27, 1899 

 
 
 
 

 
Being only 50 years old when he sold the farms, he went to work as a driver for the St Charles 
Condensing Co. in Ingersoll.  The business was later called the Borden’s Milk Co. and was located at King 
and Whiting streets. 
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photo: 
St. Charles Condensing Co. 1900 
 
A June 26 1926 US Border Manifest 
showed the couple had crossed to the USA 
with the substantial sum of $7000.00 for 
the purposes of taking up permanent 
residents.  Their contact was daughter 
Edith in Wisconsin.  The plan never 
reached fruition as may be obvious when 

you read Edith’s history on page 47.  The couple returned to Ingersoll within months. 
 

 
 
When the couple were in their late 70s and early 80s and living in Ingersoll, their daughter Sarah died in 
1940.  She lived locally and was likely a caregiver.  With their children dispersed and none living locally, a 
decision was made to move to Vancouver to be with their doctor son Byron.  In November of 1941 they 
arrived in Vancouver.  Although in the care of their doctor son, the couple did not survive long.  Agnes 
died seven months after their arrival and James R joined her in death six months later. 
 
MRS. JAMES R. ELLIOTT LAID TO REST HERE 
The funeral of Agnes Stephenson, dearly beloved wife of James R. Elliott, who passed away in Vancouver, British 
Columbia, on Friday, May 1st, 1942, was held on Sunday afternoon, May 10th, from the Preston T. Walker Funeral 
Home, King St. W., Ingersoll. Mrs. Elliott died quite unexpectedly after an illness of only two weeks duration 
following an influenza cold. She was in her 79th year and was born on Harris St., in West Oxford [township], a few 
miles from the boundaries of Ingersoll. She was of pioneer Scotch stock, her parents having settled in West Oxford 
[township], almost a century ago and cleared the land for farming purposes. Mr. and Mrs. Elliott farmed in West 
Oxford [township] until 1906 when they came to Ingersoll where they made their home almost continuously ever 
since. Mrs. Elliott through her kindly and unassuming disposition endeared herself to a wide circle of friends by 
whom she was very highly esteemed. As a member of Trinity United Church, she regularly attended services and 
always took a keen interest in the activities of the church and its ladies’ organizations. Mrs. Elliott never failed in 
her loyalty and affection for her native Oxford. Since, Mr. and Mrs. Elliott went to Vancouver about seven months 
ago, to make their home with their son, they celebrated their 58th wedding anniversary and Mrs. Elliott observed 
her 78th birthday. Left to mourn the passing of a devoted and dearly loved wife and mother are her husband, now 
in Vancouver; one son, Dr. Byron S. Elliott, Vancouver; two daughters, Mrs. Edward F. Kirkness, Baltimore, 
Maryland and Edith E. Elliott, Toronto; one daughter, Mrs. Albert N. Riley, predeceased her one and a half years 



33 
 

ago, as did a son, James Hay Elliott. Funeral services were conducted in Vancouver on Wednesday last at the chapel 
of the Mt. Pleasant Undertaking Company, by Rev. E. F. Church and the remains were transferred to Ingersoll  
 
JAMES R. ELLIOTT PASSES AT VANCOUVER 
Word reached here this week of the death which occurred in Vancouver, on Monday evening, of James Rizeau 
Elliott, a former resident of Ingersoll. The late Mr. Elliott who was in his 85th year, passed away suddenly at the 
home of his son, Dr. B. S. Elliott. Mr. Elliott was born in West Oxford [township]. For many years he farmed in that 
district, retiring to Ingersoll, about 1906. He was a member of Trinity United Church and of King Hiram Lodge, No. 
37. About a year ago, Mr. and Mrs. Elliott went to Vancouver to make their home with their son, Mrs. Elliott 
predeceased him in May of this year. A highly esteemed resident of the community, sincere regret at his passing 
will be felt throughout the district. Surviving is one son, Dr. Byron S. Elliott, Vancouver, and two daughters, Miss 
Edith Elliott, Toronto, and Mrs. Edward F. Kirkness, Baltimore, Maryland. The funeral will be held on Tuesday 
afternoon from the Preston T. Walker Funeral Home, with service at 2 o'clock. - Ingersoll Tribune, Nov 5, 1942 

 

 
The couple had five children:  
Dr. Bryon Stephenson  B 03 Aug 1884  D 04 Apr 1961 
James Hays   B 24 Aug 1886   D 30 Aug 1886 lived 6 days  
Mary Byre (Kirkness)   B 14 Aug 1887   D 11 July 1946   
Sarah Agnes (Riley)   B 04 July 1890   D 01 Oct 1940 
Edith Evelyn (Volk)   B 17 July 1898   D 1988 in Toronto 
 

Great Grandchildren of John and Mary Elliott 
Grandchild of James Elliott and Sarah Lawrence 
Child of James Rizeau Elliott and Agnes Stephenson 
First Child Byron Stephenson MD B 03 Aug 1884 W Oxford - Maple Grove farm 

D 04 Apr 1961 Vancouver, BC 
Spouse: Blanche Lord   B 1904 New York State 
     D 04 Aug 1988 Vancouver 
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Born and raised on his father’s W Oxford Co. farm, Byron was an 
honours student educated at Ingersoll Collegiate.  After training 
as a doctor in Toronto and interning in New York State, he moved 
to Vancouver.  With the outbreak of the Great War, Byron went 

overseas serving with the Canadian Army Medical Corp.  He returned via New York City in 1919 with a 
military rank of Captain. 

 
 

Byron was already in Vancouver when he started his 
war service and returned immediately after.   
He likely was enticed by the opening of the new St. 
Paul’s Hospital that was being built in downtown 
Vancouver and was hoping that he could quickly move 
up the organizational ladder.  It did not take long.  
Byron was made a member of the surgical staff at St 
Paul’s Hospital in Vancouver when it opened. 

 
“The Medical Advisory Board held a regular monthly meeting, and on June 15, 1920 called a special 
meeting to select a Medical Staff for St. Paul's Hospital. After discussion it was finally decided to ask the 
following medical men to be members of St. Paul's Hospital Staff -- duration of appointments to be one 
year. Doctors occupying salaried positions in the Hospital were to be ex officio members of the Staff.” 
 

 
 
 
 
Courtesy: History of St Paul’s Hospital  
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St Paul’s Hospital, Vancouver BC circa  
1920. Courtesy: History of St Paul’s Hospital 

 
Like his cousin, Dr. George Elliott Seldon, 
who was also a MD in Vancouver in the 
same time, Bryon also made the papers 
for court related activities. 
                                                                                          
Courtesy: History of St Paul’s Hospital 

 
Dr Byron Elliott picking up his new 
automobile, June 1931. 
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According to voter’s census 1919, Dr Elliott worked and lived 
in the Birks Building on the seventh floor.  It was famous for 
the clock in front of the building.  The “under the Birks clock” 
location was a noted downtown spot as a place to meet.  
 
 
Dr Byron Elliott was in several automobile accidents while in 
British Columbia and was reprimanded several times for 
excessive speed and careless driving.   
It led to tragic results.  
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Byron married Blanche “Bea” Lord of Ladner, BC.  According to the 1931 Vancouver census, Blanche was 
born in the US and emigrated with her family in 1904 when she was a toddler.  She was naturalized in 
1914 and was working as a RN in Vancouver.   She met Byron in the operating theatre of St. Paul’s where 
she was a nurse in training.  They lived on the 2800 block of 35th Ave. Vancouver.  Byron’s preference for 
speeding resulted in Blanche being severely injured in an auto rollover on the cliff side Oregon Coast 
Highway. 
 

 
 
 
e 

 DR. B. S. ELLIOTT PASSES IN B.C. 
Dr. Byron Stephenson Elliott of Vancouver, BC, passed away on April 4th, 
1961, and funeral service was held at 11 am, Friday, April 7th, at the 
Simmons McBride Funeral Chapel with Rev. C. L. Streight officiating. Left to 
mourn his passing are his wife, Blanche; one daughter, Mary Evelyn and one 
son, Byron Stephenson, at home; one sister, Edith Evelyn Elliott, Toronto; 
and two nephews, N. E. Riley of Toronto, and Byron E. Kirkness of Baltimore, 
Maryland. His mother, Mrs. Agnes Stephenson Elliott, his father, James 
Rizeau Elliott; two sisters, Mrs. Mary Burns Kirkness and Mrs. Sarah Agnes 
Riley and an infant brother, James Hay Elliott predeceased him. The 
deceased was a member of the Prince of Wales Lodge, No. 100, AF AM, the 
Canadian Club, Shaughnessy United Church and a veteran of World War I. 
He was born at Maple Grove Farm, West Oxford [township], near Ingersoll, 
on August 3, 1884. He attended Ingersoll Public School and Collegiate 
Institute. After he graduated from the University of Toronto in 1907 and had 
a period of internship with a doctor in White Plains, New York, after which 
he established a practice in 1913 in Vancouver. The funeral was held from 
the McRoberts Funeral Home, Ingersoll, on Wednesday, afternoon April 
12th, with service at 2 o'clock conducted by Rev. Ralph E. King, of Trinity 
United Church. The pallbearers were B. G. Jenvey, Dr. Robert McKay, 
William Langstroth, Stanley Elliott, Fred Alderson and Glen Stewart. 
Interment was made in the family plot in the Ingersoll Rural Cemetery 
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The couple had two children, Mary Evelyn and Byron.  
Byron Stephenson Elliott was born in 1944.  He made front page news April 2, 1962 as he had a serious 
run in with the authorities and was subsequently found guilty and sent to penitentiary for two years.  He 
was 18 at the time and his father had passed away 11 months before.  He was married and living in 
Richmond BC as late as 1988.   
 
I have been unable to locate Mary Evelyn Elliott DeJong with any accuracy. 
 
 

  
 

Great Grandchildren of John and Mary Elliott 
Grandchild of James Elliott and Sarah Lawrence 
Child of James Rizeau Elliott and Agnes Stephenson 
Second Child: James Hay   B 24 Aug 1886 

D 29 Aug 1886 6 days  
Birth Notice: ELLIOTT—"In West Oxford [township], on the 24th inst., the wife of James R. Elliott, of a 
son” - Ingersoll Chronicle & Canadian Dairyman, Aug 26, 1886 
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IRC Burial Index Aug 26, 1886 of bowel obstruction at age 6 days 

 

 
 
 
Great Grandchildren of John and Mary Elliott 
Grandchild of James Elliott and Sarah Lawrence 
Child of James Rizeau Elliott and Agnes Stephenson 
Third Child: Mary Byre  B 14 Aug 1887 W Oxford.  

D 11 July 1946 Toronto Buried IRC   
                                        M 27 Apr 1924 Toronto 
 Spouse: Edward Frank Kirkness  B Dec 1876 Hamilton, Ont.  

D Jan 1943 Baltimore, Maryland 
                                        Edward is buried in the National Military Cemetery in Baltimore 
 
 
Mary was born and raised on the James Elliott “Maplegrove” farm southwest of Ingersoll.  She was 
smart at school and had a passion for the medical field.  Perhaps she was influenced by her older 
brother’s medical training.   
In 1910, Mary Byre Elliott started training as a nurse at the prestigious John Hopkins University in 
Baltimore.  She graduated in 1913. (Note: photo below).  It is unclear as to why she chose or was 
accepted to such a prestigious school. 
Edward Kirkness, son of John Kirkness Sr. emigrated from the Orkney Islands around 1865 and was 
employed by the Hudson Bay Co. in Winnipeg.   His family moved to Hamilton, Ont. in 1872 and set up a 
photography studio.  Father John became a famous outdoor and naturalist photographer.  He won 
several awards at Expositions in Chicago, St Louis, Cincinnati and Hamilton.  Son Edward was 2 years old 
when the family moved to Baltimore in 1879.  They set up a photography studio in Baltimore and John 
became the official photographer for the city of Baltimore.  You can find and purchase photos from the 
Kirkness studio on Etsy. 
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You can find and purchase photos from the 
Kirkness studio on Etsy. 

 
While in Baltimore, 
Mary met Edward 
and they married in 
1924.  Neither were 

young as Edward was 
48 years old and Mary 

was 37 at the time of their marriage.  It was Edward’s second marriage 
and he had two daughters at the time.  Edward had worked at the 
family studio in his youth but eventually went to work at the Post 
Office.  He became the assistant supervisor at the Merchant’s Station 
Post Office Branch.  Mary worked at John Hopkins Hospital.  Edward 
walked to and from work every day, a habit he started while a youth 
in Hamilton. 
 
He used his long-distance walking ability to      sharpen his athletic 
skills and was known in Baltimore as an excellent track and field 
athlete for his entire life.  As a young man, he was constantly on the 
podium. 
 
When he grew older, he continued competing in local events and 
specialized in race walking.  He also was a highly respected coach in 
Baltimore athletics.  The post office held sporting events and at age 47 
he was walking weekends from Baltimore to Washington DC as a 
training exercise for the walking races.   
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Transcribed from 30th of August 1923, Baltimore Sun: 
“He won the one mile walk in the first “All for 
Glory” meet held here.  This story added to his energy and he  
then went after further laurels at the Fifth Regiment Armory. 
He captured the 220-, 440- and 880-yard walks and next set 
out to conquer things at Lake Gilford.  For a number of years 
Kirkness had not been in active competition but has been 
keeping in excellent walking form. A jaunt to Washington 
is one of his hobbies.  Probably the best time he has made  
of this walk is 7 hours and 38 minutes with the last five  
miles done in 58 minutes.  He coached the City College track team in 1921 and knows the fine point of 
track.”  
 
 
                          Baltimore Sun Jan. 1943 
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Edward Kirkness D Jan 1943. 
He was a Spanish War Veteran at age 24 and was buried in Baltimore 
National Cemetery 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
As noted, after graduation, Mary Byre (Elliott) was a nurse at John Hopkins hospital for several years.  
She was found in the 1920 City Directory for Baltimore living at 907 N Broadway in Baltimore.  Google 
maps shows this building as being an apartment about 4 blocks from John Hopkins Hospital.  
 
Note: the 1921 Ontario census has a Mary (right age) living with her brother James Rizeau and family 
back in Ingersoll.  Did she move back home after graduation before returning to Baltimore?  
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Graduate Class of 1913 John Hopkins Nursing School.   
(Courtesy: Alan Chesney Medical Archive) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The archiving of the above photo was done after her marriage as it lists her married name.  In 1914, 
Mary B was listed as a witness at her sister Sarah’s wedding.  When Mary married Edward on the 27th of 
April, 1924, she became a stay-at-home mother at age 40.  The couple had only child, son Byron who 
was born in 1927.   
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After Edward’s death in 1943, 56-year-old Mary moved back to Ingersoll where she lived until she her 
health led her to move to her sister Edith’s home in Toronto.  She died of colon cancer in 1946 only four 
years after her parents’ deaths.  She is buried with her parents in Ingersoll Rural Cemetery. 
 
FORMER RESIDENT PASSES IN TORONTO 
The death occurred at Toronto on Monday of Mary Byres Kirkness in her 59th year. Born on Maplegrove Farm, 
West Oxford [township], she resided for some years in Ingersoll. She was the eldest daughter of the late Mr. and 

Mrs. James R. Elliott. Graduating from Johns Hopkins 
Hospital, as a nurse in 1913, she followed her profession of 
nursing for a number of years. She later married Edward F. 
Kirkness and resided in Baltimore, Maryland, until 1944, 
when she returned to Ingersoll. Surviving is one son, Byron 
E. E. Kirkness, Baltimore, MD., one sister, Miss Edith E. 
Elliott, Toronto; a brother, Dr. Byron S. Elliott, Vancouver, 
BC, and a nephew, N. Elliott Riley, Toronto. A sister, Mrs. A. 
N. Riley, predeceased her. The funeral will be held this 
afternoon from Toronto for interment in the Ingersoll Rural 
Cemetery 
Ingersoll Tribune July 14, 1946 

 
James Rizeau and Agnes Stephenson: daughter 
Mary Byre Kirkness   Buried IRC 
 
Son: Byron Edward Elliott Kirkness B 30 Nov 1927 Baltimore – D 12 May 2009 Crownsville, Maryland. 
 
He served in the Second World War and followed in the family business as a photographer.  He is buried 
in Crownsville Veteran Cemetery in Maryland. 
 

Great Grandchildren of John and Mary Elliott 
Grandchild of James Elliott and Sarah Lawrence 
Child of James Rizeau Elliott and Agnes Stephenson 
Fourth Child: Susan Agnes “Little Aggie”  B 04 July 1890 W Oxford 

D 01 Oct 1940 Toronto 
                                       M 09 Jun 1914 Ingersoll, Ont. 
Spouse: Albert “Bertie” Nelson Riley  B Mar 1885 Montreal  

D Feb 1955 Ottawa hospital – resident of Morrisburg 
 

The fourth child of James Elliott and Agnes Stephenson grew up on Maplegrove Farm and attended 
primary and secondary school in Ingersoll.  By her late teens, Aggie was a tall 5’7”.  She was a farm girl 
until she married Albert Riley in 1914 at age 24. 
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Spouse Albert “Bertie” Riley was born in Montreal.  His 
family moved to Toronto around 1888 and he was 
raised there.  His father Albert Edward Riley was a 
clergyman.  His mother was Ella Kelsey.  Bertie arrived 
in Ingersoll in his teens to work with his uncle in the 
cheese making business.  He later worked at Noxon’s 
Farm Equipment Co. in Ingersoll.  When he was in his 
early 20’s, he followed his father’s profession and went 
to Evanston Academy in Evanston, Illinois from 1907 
until 1909 for training.  It was an advanced prep school 
for Northwestern University.   
 

 
As per North Western University History website: 
“Evanston Academy, which closed in 1917, had a history that dates back to 1859, when the Preparatory 
Department of Northwestern University, or the Preparatory School, was opened. The creation of the department 
was proposed by the Faculty of the College of Liberal Arts and approved by the Trustees of the University in 1857. 
In the absence of many secondary schools of quality in the Chicago area and Midwest, a preparatory department 
was felt essential in ensuring that Northwestern would receive students prepared to do college work. “ 
 
Northwestern University had a highly thought of ecumenical college at the time.  

 
 
After graduation, he was found as a clergyman in 
Bloomington, Wisconsin which was a small city near the 
Mississippi River.  How the couple met is unknown.  A 
possibility is that his uncle Charles Wesley Riley may 
have introduced them.  Charles was a resident of 
Ingersoll and would eventually become mayor.  It 
appears the officiating minister of their wedding was 
Bertie’s father.  Susan’s sister Mary, who was training as 
a nurse in Baltimore, attended as a witness.  After their 
honeymoon, Aggie left with her husband to reside in 
Bloomington. 
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Border paperwork. July 1914 
 
RILEY-ELLIOTT--From Wednesday's Daily--One of the prettiest of June 
weddings was solemnized this afternoon at "Cruden" the beautiful 
home of Mr. and Mrs. James R. Elliott, Thames St. S., when their 
second daughter, Sarah Agnes, was united in the holy bonds of 
matrimony to Rev. Albert Nelson Riley, of Bloomington, Wisconsin, 
son of Mr. and Mrs. A. E. Riley of Toronto. In the drawing room 
under an arch of palms and cut flowers the ceremony was 
performed by Rev. C. J. McLean, assisted by Rev. L. W. Hill. To the 
strains of the wedding march from Lohengrin, played by the bride's 
sister, Miss Edith Evelyn Elliott, the bride was brought in and given 
away by her father. In the drawing room four young friends of the 
bride, Misses Clara Odell, Jennie Brooks, Gladys Holcroft, and Lela 
Kerr, as ribbon bearers, formed an aisle of cream satin ribbons 
through which the bridal party walked. The bride looked charming in 
her travelling suit, with blouse of figured ninon de chene over cream 
satin. She wore a chic little hat of white with touches of black, 
banked at the back with flowers beautifully blending with her 
costume and carried a shower bouquet of orchids and lilies of the 
valley. Her only attendant was her sister, Miss Mary Byres Elliott, of 
Baltimore, Maryland, as bridesmaid looked sweet in a costume of 
cream silk crepe and oriental lace with an over jacket of cream satin. 
Her bouquet was of American Beauty roses. Mr. Howard Riley 

discharged the duties of best man. During the congratulations, Miss Lela Kerr gave a beautiful rendition of the 
wedding march on the piano and during the signing of the register, Miss Florence Waters, sang very sweetly. After 
the signing of the register the guests proceeded to the dining room where a very dainty buffet luncheon was served 
by four young friends of the bride. Here the colour scheme pale pink and white, the table being prettily decorated 
with pink and white satin ribbon. This was prettily roped from the chandelier to the four table corners and was held 
in place by silver and brass candlesticks. The table was centred by the bride's cake entwined with smilax and the 
flowers used were pink and white carnations. Mr. Joseph Gibson Sr., proposed the toast to the bride to which the 
groom ably responded. The groom's gift to the bride was beautiful pieces of silver, to the bridesmaids, an amethyst 
and pearl bar pin, to the best man, a gold tie pin, and to the pianist, soloist, and waitresses very pretty gold lace 
pins. The presents were numerous and costly, indicating the popularity of the bride. The bride will be greatly missed 
in musical circles of the town, she being prominently connected with the two musical clubs and an active member 
of the Methodist choir. From the choir she received a handsome casserole dish and from the Young Ladies Musical 
Club a lovely cut glass vase. The happy couple left on the 4:56 train for points east. They will return to Ingersoll for a 
few days, before leaving for their future home in Bloomington, Wisconsin. 

 
Of note: 
1. Sarah and James did live in Bloomington, Wisconsin for a time.  He may have been a minister at a 
church there. 
2. Sarah’s witness was her older sister Mary Byre of Baltimore.  
3. The Elliott’s were staunch Methodists.  Rev. Riley was a Baptist clergyman.  I wonder how the 
dynamics played out in the family. 
After the now married couple moved to Wisconsin in June of 1914.  A month late, WWI broke out and 
Albert spent time working in field hospitals tending to the religious needs of the wounded.  The 1921 
Ingersoll census is intriguing, in that Aggie Riley was found living in Ingersoll with her parents John and 
Agnes.  Her son Nelson (Elliott) age 4 was with her. She was listed as married.  After the war, it appears 
Bertie may have been doing missionary work and was not at home. 
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1921 Census – Agnes Riley living with her parents in Ingersoll. 

 
 
Albert spent considerable time as a missionary pastor in the US.  It was during these times that wife Agnes Elliott 
spent time at her parent’s home in Ingersoll with her young son Nelson Elliott. 
 

MRS. A. N. RILEY PASSES AT TORONTO 
The sympathy of the community is extended to Mr. and Mrs. James R. Elliott, Thames St. S., on the death 
of their second daughter, Agnes, dearly beloved wife of A. N. Riley, who passed away suddenly at the 
Toronto East General Hospital, on Tuesday, October 1st, 1940. Deceased who was in her 51st year, was a 
native of Ingersoll and attended the Ingersoll Public School and Collegiate Institute. She had been away 
and of late had resided in Toronto. Although she had been ill for the past ten weeks, her death came 
quite unexpectedly. Left to mourn her passing besides her husband is a son, Elliott Riley, with RCAF, at 
Camp Borden; her parents, Mr. and Mrs. James R. Elliott, Ingersoll; two sisters, Mrs. E. F. Kirkness, 
Baltimore, Maryland; Mrs. Edith Elliott Volk, Toronto, and a brother, Dr. Byron S. Elliott, Vancouver, BC. 
The funeral was held on Friday afternoon, October 4th, from the Mack Funeral Home, Toronto, with 
interment in Mt. Pleasant Cemetery, in that city.  Ingersoll Chronicle 

 
After Agnes’ 
death in 
1940, Albert 
later married 
Doris Tracy 
and moved 
to the 
Cornwall, 
Ontario 
region.  He 
had only 
been a 
resident of 
Morrisburg 
for a year 
when he 
died in an Ottawa hospital. 
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Photo: Kingston Arts club executive 

 
Feb 10, 1955 Ingersoll Tribune 
FRIENDS MOURNING DEATH OF A. N. RILEY 
Friends here have heard with regret of the passing of Albert N. Riley in 
Ottawa. Mr. Riley was the son of the late Mr. and Mrs. Edward Riley and was 
born in Montreal. He came to Ingersoll as a young man to work with his uncle, 
C. W. Riley, Sr., cheese exporter. He later worked with the Noxon Co. He 
attended the Moody Bible Institute then served as a missionary in the USA. He 
served with the Canadian YMCA during World War I and later in military 
hospitals. Since his retirement from Courtauld's Limited in Cornwall in 1954, 
Mr. and Mrs. Riley had made their home in Morrisburg. A very active church 
worker, he was an elder and a member of the Board of Managers of St. John's 

Presbyterian Church in Cornwall and later elder and Sunday school superintendent at Knox Church, 
Morrisburg. Mr. Riley's first wife, Agnes Elliott of Ingersoll, died in 1940. He later married Doris Tracy of 
Morrisburg, who survives. He also leaves one son, Nelson E. Riley of Los Angeles and one brother, Charles 
W. Riley of Beachville. 
Interestingly, no mention is made in his obit about his schooling in the US.  Perhaps his second family 
was not aware of it.  Albert was also heavily involved in the Kingston lawn bowling scene. 
Both are interred at Mt. Pleasant Cemetery in Toronto 
Albert’s uncle’s family lived in Beachville.  His cousin went on to be Ingersoll town mayor. 
 

Great Grandchildren of James Elliott and Sarah Lawrence 
Grandchild of James Rizeau Elliott and Agnes Stephenson 
Only Child of Susan Agnes “Aggie” and Albert “Bertie” Riley 
Child: Nelson Elliott “Al”  B 18 Mar 1917 Toronto (the 1931 Canadian census says USA is 

birth location – emigrating in 1920) 
 M 12 Oct 1940 Toronto 

D 29 Jan 1988 Port Moody, BC 
Spouse: Lois Jean Shantz (Schrumm) B 20 June 1921 Toronto 
     D 16 Nov 2011 Preston, Ont. 
Spouse: Ruth Marie Peake  B 1925 Toronto 

D 25 Feb 1995 Port Moody, BC 
 Interred Port Coquitlam Cemetery, Pt Coquitlam BC 
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Although listed as born 17th of March 1917 in Toronto, there are several documents hinting otherwise.  
The 1931 Canadian census says he was US born and emigrating in 1920.  His marriage certificate states 
he was born in “Byron, United States”.  Just about every US state has a town named Byron, the most 
prominent being Byron Georgia. 

 
 
Only child Nelson, served in the 
RCAF.  After the war, he was a 
travelling salesman and moved the 
family around North America.  He 
had five children, all born in 
different cities across the continent.  
In 1969, he moved for the last time 
and settled in Port Moody, BC.  

His family relates that he went to the Air School in Galt, Ont. and in 1939 joined the Canadian Air Force 
in the hopes of being a pilot.  Due to his colour blindness, he was assigned to the ground crew where 
they repaired Spitfires and Hurricanes.  Due to his war assignment, he missed his mother’s 1940 funeral. 
He married Lois Jean Shantz, age 19 and from Toronto on the 12th of October 1940 while in the service.  
It appears that this marriage ended in divorce.  His father’s obit indicated Nelson was living in Los 
Angeles in 1955.  The “we miss our Jazz Man” quote and the etched piano on his headstone is a 
reference to his piano playing proficiency.  He was taught in his youth classical piano.  Upon hearing Jazz 
Master Fats Waller, he picked up playing jazz piano by ear.  The family have several of his recordings.  Of 
the couple’s five children, four survived until Ruth Marie’s death; John, Janice, Jason and Jeffery.  
 
 

Great Grandchildren of John and Mary Elliott 
Grandchild of James Elliott and Sarah Lawrence 
Child of James Rizeau Elliott and Agnes Stephenson 
Youngest Child: Edith Evelyn    B 17 June 1898 W Oxford 

D 10, July 1988 in Kitchener, Ont. Buried IRC. 
M 30 Oct 1923 Waukesha, Wisconsin 

Spouse: Hubert Thomas “Harry’ Volk   B 03 Apr 1889 Plymouth, Wisconsin 
D unknown perhaps in New York City 

 
Evelyn was considerably younger than her 
siblings.  Sarah, the nearest in age was 8 
years older. 
Like her siblings she grew up in Oxford Co. 
on Maplegrove farm.  She attended grade 
and high school in Ingersoll.  After 
graduation she went to the University of 
Guelph’s MacDonald Hall from 1920-22. 
 
 

Photo: Macdonald Hall Institute, U Of Guelph 1918.   
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“The schedule for female students in the early days of the college was tightly controlled. The residence 
itself was built on the edge of the campus and was largely self-contained, with a dining room, 
gymnasium, medical office and library right in the building.” 

Photo from “Mac” Institute Year book 1920 

 
 
 NOTE:  Terpsichore: In Greek mythology, Terpsichore (/tərpˈsɪkəriː/; Τερψιχόρη, "delight in dancing") is 
one of the nine Muses and goddess of dance and chorus. She lends her name to the word 
"terpsichorean" which means "of or relating to dance. 
 
I have not been able to identify her major.  I have learned that this institute believed in practical skills 
that could be used to educate rural students for practical careers that could be beneficial on their return 
to their rural homes.   
Her prowess on the piano is noted in sibling’s weddings as she was often called to play a selection at the 
ceremony. 

 
 
In 1920, she also took a 
three-month course at John 
Hopkins Hospital, her older 
sister Mary’s employer in 
Baltimore. 
 
This is where Edith’s trail 
becomes muddled.  The 
Vancouver Sun newspaper 
had her living in Chicago and 
visiting her brother Byron as 
noted in the 29 June, 1923 
newspaper.  Why or how 
long she lived in Chicago is 
unknown.  Four months later 
she married a man named 

Hubert (Harry) Volk on the 30th of October, 1923 and they moved to Wisconsin.   
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Vancouver Sun June 1923 

 
Her US Naturalization papers 
gave her citizenship in 1931. 
 
How she met her husband, 
Wisconsin born Hubert Volk 
has not been established. The 
fact that they both were living 
in Chicago at that time may 
have been a factor.  
Hubert (Harry) Volk (B 1889 D 
unknown) was found in 1920 as 
a single man living in a 
boarding house in Waukesha, 
Wisconsin.  He was a 
newspaper editor and clerking 

in a law office.  He passed the state bar exam in July of 1928 and by 1930 he was a well-known lawyer in 
Waukesha, Wisconsin at the time of their marriage.  Waukesha is a small town and suburb of 
Milwaukee.  He would later become Justice of the Peace for the community.   
                                                           126 Grand Ave Waukesha 
                                                                            Volks Home  
Waukesha Freeman column “50 years ago” 

 
1934 Waukesha Phone Directory 
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Hubert T “Harry” Volk University year book photo. 
 
The Volk family tree on Ancestry has an attached family history and it 
indicates in great detail about their marriage. 
 
Divorce 
23 May 1935 • Waukesha, Waukesha, Wisconsin 
“They divorced because she faked a pregnancy. Hub (a family nickname) 
wanted a child. She stayed in bed for couple months saying there was a 
problem with the pregnancy. Eventually she had to tell him. When she did, he 

left. Took only his personal belongings.”   
Only four months after the couple’s divorce, Harry ran into more problems. 
 
      1955 review of town events – Waukesha Freeman  

Harry continues to this day to be a genealogy brick wall as no more confirmed information can be found 
about his history after leaving his wife.  From family remembrances… 
“When his brother died, my aunt called and said he could not make the funeral and that he read it in the 
newspaper in Florida. No one really knew where he was; the announcement would not have been in 
paper in Florida” 
Another Volk member I reached out to on Ancestry indicates that “My aunts’ thought Hubert was a G-
man. They called him the mystery man.  He spoke about 5 different languages and when he would go to 
Macon [Georgia] to visit, he hung around a Greek restaurant. It seems like Edith married him to get 
citizenship. At some point her brother moved in. Then he became a citizen also. Supposedly they spent a 
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lot of Hubert’s money and did not treat him very well.”  I suspect Hubert was in financial trouble of his 
own making as he was found to be embezzling clients. 
Since Edith had no brothers that were unaccounted for that could have moved in after her 1923 
marriage, the only possibility was that her parents were coming to live with her as was noted previously 
in their attempt to emigrate in 1926. (See page 32).  Since they were attempting to emigrate with 
$7000.00 in their pockets, I do not see how they were stealing his money.  Regardless, the 1926 attempt 
at emigrating to Wisconsin in their mid 60’s and then having to return to Canada due to the turmoil 
taking place in the Volk household would have been a sorry affair.  
It was also noted on the Volk tree that Edith changed back to her maiden name. 
Name Change 
Dec 1944 • Waukesha, Waukesha, Wisconsin 
“Petitioned for name change back to maiden name” 
 
If these facts are true and I see no reason at present to doubt them, these events fit the missing timeline 
for Edith that I had encountered. 
At some point before 1942, she returned to Canada and lived with her sister in Toronto and in 
Newmarket as late as 1961.  The 1962 Voters list for Waterloo, Ont. had a Miss Edith Evelyn Elliott living 
at 112 Metzloff Drive.  She is listed as a dietician at the Kitchener Waterloo Regional Hospital.  The 1972 
voters list had her living in the same area but by then retired.  According to the Riley family 
recollections, every year Edith sent Christmas presents to her nephew Nelson Elliott Riley and family in 
Port Moody BC.  Without fail, a Readers Digest subscription was always included. 
 
1940s voters list confirmed Edith was back in Canada and living with her sister Sarah Riley and family in 
Toronto.  Sadly, her sister Sarah died later that year.   

 
 
I was not able to confirm her location again until the 1960 voters list for Kitchener, Ontario.  She was 
going by the name Miss Edith Elliott and was listed as a dietician at the local hospital.  Ironically, I was 
employed 20 years later for a company directly across the street from that hospital.  Her dietician 
occupation was probably learned while at John Hopkins Hospital and at U of Guelph.   
She died in Kitchener on the 10th of July, 1988.  She is buried with her parents, baby brother James Hay 
and sister Mary Kirkness in Elliott section H of Ingersoll IRC. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
James and Sarah IRC     James Rezeau and Agnes IRC 
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Grandchild of John and Mary Elliott 
Child of James Elliott and Sarah Lawrence 
Fifth and last child: Albert Edward  B 25 Aug 1866 W Oxford 
      D 05 Nov 1866 W Oxford  
The youngest child of James and Sarah, he survived ten weeks.  He died the 7th of August and is buried in 
IRC with siblings and his parents. 

 
IRC registry for Albert E Elliott 

 
 

 
 
James Elliott was a land baron in the true sense.  He acquired a large acreage in the Ingersoll region, 
some of it in a dubious manner.  What cannot be denied is his business acumen when it came to 
property purchases.  He only had five known children and only one stayed behind to carry on the farm 
tradition.  By the time his grandchildren had grown up – none were in Oxford County. 
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End of Book 9.  
Next: 

Book 10 Samuel Elliott and Mary Ann Walker and Family 
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